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Nuturing the Young —

A Delightful Tradition of True Light 1872-2002

Abstract

The True Light Seminary was founded in 1872
by Harriet Newell Noyes, a missionary of the
American Presbyterian Mission North. It was the
second girls' school established in Canton, but the
first of its kind in terms of girls' boarding in this
provincial capital.

The primary aim of the school as its name
explicitly implied was first to evangelize Chinese
young women, and also to train them to become
Bible women, who were much needed as an integral
part of the evangelization of the nation. The motto
of the school, "Let your light shine”, embodied the
hope that all its graduates would become future light-
bearers and seed-sowers of the Christian faith. The
boarding school was founded primarily to reduce
outside influence upon the students so that the whole
gospel could be effectively communicated to them,
and also to enable students to have an understanding
of Western values and life.

Due to the anti-foreign and anti-Christian
sentiments, initially the school encountered many
difficulties in its development. Three years later in
1875, a fire broke out and razed the school to the
ground. It was given a new life when it was moved
to Yen Ji Road along the bank of the Pearl River.
However, the school found it difficult to recruit
suitable women teachers, so it trained its own

students for the teaching posts. Hence, in 1884,

when Miss Lau Sam Tze (later Mrs. Law) was only




thirteen years of age, she became employed as a
teacher. In the early days, the students were given
free education in order to encourage parents to send
their daughters to the school. However, students
began to pay tuition fees from 1900 onwards.

The school was initially divided into two
departments—one as a girls' school, and the other
as a school for women. The former provided normal
education for young girls while the latter provided
Bible classes and training for adult women to
become Bible women. The girls' school gradually
developed into a modern western-type primary
school. Apart from Chinese classics and a course
on the Bible, the curriculum included machematics,
geography, astronomy, chemistry, history and other
subjects. In 1903, the school included the most
innovative subject on callisthenics drills, which later
developed fully into Physical Education. From 1894
onwards, as part of the foundation for China's
education, the normal school department was
established in order to provide vocational training
and teacher training.

The school emphasized religious education,
with Bible Study as a core course, morning chapel
services and evening prayer meetings. Students were
required to attend worship services on Sundays,
which were observed as a day of rest. The
missionaries’ active evangelization led many students

to faith in Christ. During the first forty years, an

average of one quarter of the student population
became Christians.

On the one hand, the school emphasized
student discipline, training students to become
proper Chinese ladies. On the other hand, the school
also offered a colorful campus life, scheduling
different kinds of sports such as volley ball,
basketball, lawn tennis, baseball and others besides
choral singing and folk dancing. In 1908, the school
started the Young Women Christian Association on
campus, organizing the students to participate in
social services such as providing free schools, Sunday
Schools and summer camps for illiterate children in
the nearby villages.

Most students became housewives after they
graduated from the school. Some of them married
preachers and assisted them in the ministry. The
women's school and the normal school departments
produced Bible women and teachers for the Chinese
churches and society. In 1879, two of the students
enrolled in medical classes that Dr. John Kerr offered
in conjunction with the Canton Mission Hospital.
After the arrival of Dr. Mary Niles in Canton in
1882, she started medical classes for women who
were mainly graduates of True Light Seminary. The
medical classes later evolved into the Hackertt
Medical College for Women.

After the 1911 Revolution, in the face of social

changes when educational reforms led to Western




educational system becoming the vogue, the
education provided by True Light Seminary became
very appealing. This led to the development of well-
organized elementary and junior high school
departments, normal school department for teachers'
training, and Bible school department. The school
was self-supporting with students paying tuition to
offset the schools' expenses. In 1913, with the
mission board's consent, Harriet Newell Noyes
established a high school to meet the social needs.
In addition to the existing Seminary, the True Light
Middle School of Canton was established as a
modern middle school for girls at White Crane Nest
(Paak Hok Tung in Cantonese) at the outskirts of
Canton city. Dr. John W. Creighton was appointed
as its principal. In 1917, the middle school campus
was officially opened. That same year Harriet Newell
Noyes retired, and Mrs. Law Lau Sam Tsz succeeded
as the principal of the elementary school department.
Mrs. Law was the first Chinese to assume the post
principal. She was succeeded by her daughter in 1925.

After the True Light Middle School was
established, it became an elite girls' school in Canton
and South China. The school offered a balanced
curriculum. Although it was a Chinese medium
middle school, it emphasized training in the English
language with native speakers from the West as

teachers. The school focused on character building

through religious education, various services and

activities. Since it had a high academic standard, many
Christian universities such as Lingnan University and
Yenching University accepted its graduates for
enrollment without any entrance examinations. The
students came mainly from higher class families, and
most of their fathers were merchants. A number of
the students also came from other provinces including
Hong Kong, and Southeast Asia.

True Light Seminary placed great emphasis on
nurturing the spirit of service among the students,
encouraging and assisting them to start village
schools as their extracurricular activities. The
students raised their own funds for starting a
maximum of three schools simultaneously to provide
free education. The students also conducted literacy
classes for women servants on campus. Furthermore,
they raised funds for relief work when drought and
other natural disasters hit most parts of China.

In 1922, the Anti-Christian Movement gained
momentum in society, followed by the Movement
For the Recovery of the Rights of Education in 1925.
Christian education was accused of being a means
of imperialism, and Christians schools were seen as
agents in the denationalization of China. Under the
influence of these movements, the Chinese
government changed their educational policy,
decreeing that all private schools of all kinds should
be registered and under government supervision.

They were to comply with the government




regulations in the organization of schools, in the
curriculum, and in other matters. In the case of
schools that were established by foreigners, the heads
of the schools, the chairmen and two-thirds of the
board of directors must be Chinese. And for schools
that were established by religious organizations,
religious education should not be made compulsory,
nor should religious propaganda be allowed as part
of the schools' regular programs. To meet with these
challenges, both True Light Elementary School and
True Light Middle School reorganized their
administrative structures under Chinese management
and were registered officially with the Nationalist
government. Furthermore, they had to remove
religious education as a core course, and the post of
principal in the middle school was offered to a
Chinese. True Light schools had to change their status
from being missionary schools to being Chinese
Christian schools. Nevertheless, the Presbyterian
Mission maintained a fraternal relationship with the
school. Missionary subsidies were suspended, but two
or three missionaries were sent to join the faculty as
fraternal staff until the Japanese invasion.

In 1930, Rev. Stephen Mark was invited to be
the first Chinese principal of True Light Middle
School where he served from 1930-34. He was
succeeded by Dr. Hoh Yam Tong, a graduate of
Columbia University with a Ph.D. in Education. He

led the school until China declared war on Japan.

Due to the suspension of all missionary
subsidies, in 1937 the school fees was inevitably
increased to HK$171 per semester. As a result, the
True Light schools were among the most expensive
private schools in China.

The campus chapter of the YWCA was also
reorganized to emerge as the Hwa Kwong Club. It
became affiliated with the Kwangtung Christian
Student Association.

A private True Light Elementary School was
added to True Light Middle School in Hong Kong
in 1935 with the renting of a site in the mid-levels
on Caine Road as its campus. Ms. Ho Yuk Ying was
appointed as its principal. In 1939, the school bought
a housing block as its campus facilities and developed
it into a boarding school with over two hundred
students.

In 1928, the True Light Elementary School came
under the supervision of the Church of Christ Church
in China Yan Oi Chapel, with its own board of
directors. When Miss Law To Chun resigned from
the school for further studies abroad with her husband,
Dr. Hoh Yam Tong, her sister Miss Law Yau Tsit
succeeded her as the principal. In 1938, the directors
established a day school in the downtown area to serve
those who could not afford boarding schools. The new
school was named Chan Chung Middle School. The
True Light Elementary School became the elementary

department of this school.




In February 1938, the board of directors rented
a building in Shamshuipo, Kowloon to launch a
branch of the school. In October, due to the Japanese
occupation of Canton, it merged with the elementary
department. When war began in the Pacific area, the
school stopped its operation.

The True Light Middle School in Canton was
greatly affected by the war. In 1937, due to the
difficult situation in Canton, the school decided to
move to Hong Kong and continued its educational
mission by renting a house in Wan Chai. However,
when the British colony fell into the hands of the
Japanese in 1942, the school was compelled to stop
functioning. Dr. Hoh Yam Tong led the staff and
students to Kook Kong in Canton and borrowed a
chapel building in Lin County as he was determined
to re-establish the school in the "free zone" in China.
Since the area was too remote to recruit adequate
numbers of girls as students, boys were also
welcomed as students during this exceptional period.
By the end of 1942, Dr. Hoh established a branch
school in Kweilin, Kwangsi, with Ms. Ho Yuk Ying
appointed as its principal. In 1944, as the war
situation worsened, the school at Lin County was
compelled to move to Mount Double Joy(Sheung
Hei Shan) in the same county, while the branch
school in Kweilin was closed. The board of directors
decided to merge True Light Middle School with Pui
Ying Middle School. At the same time, Dr. Ho

resigned as he and his family were leaving for
America, and Ms. Wong Yuk Ching and Ms. Lee
Yiu Yu succeeded as school principals consecutively.
This was the most difficult time for True Light
schools to carry on with their operations. As for the
campus building in Canton, it became a refugee
camp during the war.

In 1945, When WWII was over, True Light
Middle School immediately resumed operations and
moved back from Lin County to White Crane Nest
(Paak Hok Tung). However, since the campus had
been severely ruined by Japanese soldiers and the
resulting spate of refugees, it was very difficult to
resume school operations. Also, in 1947, Miss Lee
Yiu Yu resigned as principal and was succeeded by
Dr. Ma Yi Ying, under whose principalship, the
buildings and equipment improved.

In 1949, the Board of Directors considered it
would be wise to move True Light Middle School to
a place where there would be freedom of worship
and the opportunity for a Christian education. Dr.
Ma Yi Ying was delegated to relocate the school. A
house was bought in Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong
and it was altered to serve as a school named
Kowloon True Light Middle School. Dr. Ma Yi Ying
was the Principal of both schools until Canton was
librated and the provincial government took over the

Then Miss Lee Cheuk Yi

COﬂ[l’Ol Of SChOOlS.

succeeded as Principal of True Light Middle School

in Canton. In 1954, the school became Canton City




Number Twenty-two Middle School. However, it
resumed its name as Canton True Light Middle
School in1984. It was the first school to resume its
original name.

Since 1949, Kowloon True Light Middle
School has been preferred by many parents for its
high scholastic standard and Christian education
emphasis. It is affiliated with the Hong Kong
Council of the Church of Christ in China. In view
of its success, in 1958 the government granted a
piece of land on Suffolk Road to construct a new
campus. Construction was completed within two
years, and the secondary school section moved to
this new campus, while the primary and
kindergarten section remained in the old location.

In 1973, Dr. Ma Yi Ying retired as principal
and was succeeded by Miss Lee Wai Lam. Five years
later, as Principal Lee retired, Miss But Yee Har
became its principal in 1978. The same year, the
middle school section became a fully government-
aided secondary school, while the kindergarten and
primary sections maintained their private status. The
school maintained a high standard and a good
reputation. This work paved the way for a better
quality of education for Chinese students in Hong
Kong. In 1991, Miss Chan Yuen Sheung became the
Principal and has remained so to this day.

The school continued to move forward with the

times, raising its quality of Chinese education, with a

balanced development in the moral, mental, physical,

social, artistic and spiritual aspects. The school gave
special attention to teacher-student relations, and a
support system for the students, such as promoting
“mutual encouragement between teachers and
students” and “peer group counselling”.

True Light Primary School in Hong Kong
resumed operation in February 1946. Ms. Ho Yuk
Ying resigned as principal and was succeeded by Ms.
Ho Chung Chung. By February 1947, the school
further developed its middle school section.

After 1949, in response to the educational
demands of new immigrants from the mainland, True
Light Middle School in Hong Kong rapidly
developed from an elementary department affiliated
to the True Light Middle School in Canton to a full-
fledged secondary school. When the Hong Kong
government granted the school a piece of land on
Tai Hang Road in 1950, a brand new school building
was constructed to accommodate students from
kindergarten to the secondary school levels. More
buildings and facilities were added to meet the ever-
increasing demand during this period. The campus
on Caine Road remained a primary school affiliated
to the Tai Hang Road campus. In 1960, the whole
school from kindergarten to secondary school levels
consisted altogether of seventy-four classes and a total
of three thousand students.

Being a secondary school, the True Light
Middle School of Hong Kong emphasized the




